

# **Wireless CSS Specification**

Candidate Version 1.2 – 23 Sep 2008

**Open Mobile Alliance** OMA-TS-WCSS-V1\_2-20080923-C

Use of this document is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Use Agreement located at http://www.openmobilealliance.org/UseAgreement.html.

Unless this document is clearly designated as an approved specification, this document is a work in process, is not an approved Open Mobile Alliance<sup>TM</sup> specification, and is subject to revision or removal without notice.

You may use this document or any part of the document for internal or educational purposes only, provided you do not modify, edit or take out of context the information in this document in any manner. Information contained in this document may be used, at your sole risk, for any purposes. You may not use this document in any other manner without the prior written permission of the Open Mobile Alliance. The Open Mobile Alliance authorizes you to copy this document, provided that you retain all copyright and other proprietary notices contained in the original materials on any copies of the materials and that you comply strictly with these terms. This copyright permission does not constitute an endorsement of the products or services. The Open Mobile Alliance assumes no responsibility for errors or omissions in this document.

Each Open Mobile Alliance member has agreed to use reasonable endeavors to inform the Open Mobile Alliance in a timely manner of Essential IPR as it becomes aware that the Essential IPR is related to the prepared or published specification. However, the members do not have an obligation to conduct IPR searches. The declared Essential IPR is publicly available to members and non-members of the Open Mobile Alliance and may be found on the "OMA IPR Declarations" list at <a href="http://www.openmobilealliance.org/ipr.html">http://www.openmobilealliance.org/ipr.html</a>. The Open Mobile Alliance has not conducted an independent IPR review of this document and the information contained herein, and makes no representations or warranties regarding third party IPR, including without limitation patents, copyrights or trade secret rights. This document may contain inventions for which you must obtain licenses from third parties before making, using or selling the inventions. Defined terms above are set forth in the schedule to the Open Mobile Alliance Application Form.

NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES (WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED) ARE MADE BY THE OPEN MOBILE ALLIANCE OR ANY OPEN MOBILE ALLIANCE MEMBER OR ITS AFFILIATES REGARDING ANY OF THE IPR'S REPRESENTED ON THE "OMA IPR DECLARATIONS" LIST, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS, VALIDITY OR RELEVANCE OF THE INFORMATION OR WHETHER OR NOT SUCH RIGHTS ARE ESSENTIAL OR NON-ESSENTIAL.

THE OPEN MOBILE ALLIANCE IS NOT LIABLE FOR AND HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OF DOCUMENTS AND THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE DOCUMENTS.

© 2008 Open Mobile Alliance Ltd. All Rights Reserved. Used with the permission of the Open Mobile Alliance Ltd. under the terms set forth above.

## **Contents**

1.	SCOPE	5
2.	REFERENCES	6
2.1	NORMATIVE REFERENCES	6
2.2		
3.	TERMINOLOGY AND CONVENTIONS	7
3.1		
	3.1.1 Tables	
	3.1.2 Obsolete Properties	
3.2	1	
4.	INTRODUCTION	8
4.1	HOW TO READ THIS SPECIFICATION	8
4.2		
	4.2.1 Exceptions when Presenting Documents in Certain Character Sets	
	4.2.2 Shorthand Properties	
	4.2.3 Colour and "Black & White" Devices	
4.3		
	SELECTORS	
5.1		
6.	SYNTAX AND BASIC DATA TYPES	11
6.1		11
6.2	DATA TYPES	11
7.	ASSIGNING PROPERTY VALUES, CASCADING, AND INHERITANCE	12
8.	MEDIA TYPES	13
9.	ASSOCIATING STYLE SHEETS WITH XML DOCUMENT	14
10.	BOX MODEL	15
10.		
10		
10		
10		
10		
10	.6 BORDER SHORTHAND PROPERTIES	16
11.	COLOURS AND BACKGROUND	17
11	.1 FOREGROUND COLOUR	17
	2 BACKGROUND COLOUR	
11		
11.		
12.	FONTS	
12		
12		
12		
12 12		
12		
13.	LISTS	
13.		
_		
14.	TEXT	
14	1 Indentation	22

14.2	ALIGNMENT	22
14.3		
14.4		
14.5		
15.	VISUAL EFFECTS	2
16.	VISUAL FORMATTING	25
16.1	DISPLAY PROPERTIES	25
16.2		
16.3	FLOAT POSITIONING	20
16.4		
16.5	5 LAYERED PRESENTATION	20
16.6	6 CONTENT WIDTH AND HEIGHT	20
16.7		
17.	MARQUEE	29
17.1	CSS3 MARQUEE	29
17.2		
18.	CSS EXTENSION: ACCESS KEYS	30
19.	CSS EXTENSION: INPUT	31
APPE	NDIX A. CHANGE HISTORY (INFORMATIVE)	32
A.1	APPROVED VERSION 1.1 HISTORY	32
A.2		
	NDIX B. STATIC CONFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS (NORMATIVE)	
APPFI	NDIY C CHANGES FROM WCSS 1 1 TO WCSS 1 2	34

## 1. Scope

This section is informative.

Wireless CSS specifies a subset of CSS2.1 [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] and mobile extensions defined by OMA. It can be used to style XHTML Mobile Profile [[XHTMLMP] documents, as well as any other XML document.

The CSS2 subset contains core CSS functionality such as inheritance, cascading, selectors, and the syntax. It also contains properties for the box layout model, text, fonts, visual effects, colour, and lists.

The following CSS extensions are specified:

- Marquee properties to create simple animation effects. Typically this will be used to create scrolling text.
- **Input** (Obsoleted) properties to specify the format of the user input into a form control. It is the same feature as the WML 'format' and 'emptyok' attributes provide.
- Accesskey (Obsolete) property to specify an optional, additional way to activate an element in a document. It is similar to the feature the HTML 'accesskey' attribute provides.

A subset of CSS2 is also specified in the W3C, the "W3C CSS Mobile Profile 2.0" Candidate Recommendation [[CSSMP]. Since both CSS2 variants follow CSS user agent semantics, conforming Wireless CSS user agents will accept valid W3C CSS Mobile Profile style sheets.

#### 2. References

#### 2.1 Normative References

[CSS21] "Cascading Style Sheets, level 2 revision 1", CSS2.1 Specification, W3C.Candidate Recommendation,

19 July 2007

URL: <a href="http://www.w3.org/TR/CSS21/">http://www.w3.org/TR/CSS21/</a>

[CSS3BOX] "CSS Box Module", W3C Working Draft, 9 March 2007, URL: http://www.w3.org/Style/Group/css3-

src/css3-box/

[CSS3NS] "CSS Namespace Module", W3C Working Draft 1 October 2006, URL:

http://www.w3.org/Style/Group/css3-src/css3-namespace/

[CSSMP20] "CSS Mobile Profile 2.0", W3C Candidate Recommendation URL:

http://www.w3.org/Style/Group/css3-src/css-mobile/

[CDFWICD] "WICD Mobile 1.0", W3C Candidate Recommendation, 18 July 2007, URL:

http://www.w3.org/TR/WICDMobile/

[IOPProc] "OMA Interoperability Policy and Process". Open Mobile Alliance™. OMA-IOP-Process-v1 4,.

URL:http//www.openmobilealliance.org/

[RFC2119] "Key words for use in RFCs to Indicate Requirement Levels", S. Bradner, March 1997. URL:

http://www.ietf.org/rfc/rfc2119.txt

[RFC2318] "The text/css Media Type", H. Lie, B. Bos, C. Lilley, March 1998.

URL: <a href="http://www.ietf.org/rfc/rfc2318.txt">http://www.ietf.org/rfc/rfc2318.txt</a>

[WCSS11] "Wireless CSS Specification 1.1", 20 October 2006, Open Mobile Alliance<sup>TM</sup>., OMA-WAP-WCSS-

V1 1-20061020-A.pdf

[XMLCSS] "Associating Style Sheets with XML documents", Version 1.0, W3C Recommendation.

URL: <a href="http://www.w3.org/1999/06/REC-xml-stylesheet-19990629">http://www.w3.org/1999/06/REC-xml-stylesheet-19990629</a>

Editor's Note: Need to update some W3C URLs to the "public" versions when available

#### 2.2 Informative References

[BASIC] "XHTML Basic 1.1", W3C Candidate Recommendation, 13 July 2007

URL: http://www.w3.org/TR/xhtml-basic/

[HTML40] ""HTML 4.01 Specification", W3C Recommendation 24 December 1999,

http://www.w3.org/TR/1999/REC-html401-19991224

[XHTMLMP] "XHTML Mobile Profile 1.3", Open Mobile Alliance™. OMA-TS-XHTMLMP-

V1 3. URL: <a href="http://www.openmobilealliance.org/">http://www.openmobilealliance.org/</a>

## 3. Terminology and Conventions

#### 3.1 Conventions

The key words "MUST", "MUST NOT", "REQUIRED", "SHALL", "SHALL NOT", "SHOULD", "SHOULD NOT", "RECOMMENDED", "MAY", and "OPTIONAL" in this document are to be interpreted as described in [[RFC2119].

CSS property, descriptor, and pseudo-class names are delimited by single quotes.

CSS values are delimited by double quotes.

Data types are written as

<data type>

Notes are written as

Note: An informational message to the reader.

#### 3.1.1 Tables

CSS properties and features are defined in tables with the following column names:

#### PROPERTY

Comma-separated list of property names.

#### FEATURE

Name of a CSS feature.

#### VALUE

"|"-separated list of datatypes and property values. (This is not the syntax of the property value.)

#### REFERENCE

Normative reference to the place where the property or function is defined.

#### STATUS

"M" - Mandatory; "O" - Optional.

#### 3.1.2 Obsolete Properties

For user agent developers, properties that have been designated as obsolete SHOULD NOT be built into new implementations. Older implementations MAY still support these properties. However, all implementations MUST be able to parse, and at a minimum ignore obsoleted syntax.

Content providers are discouraged from using obsolete properties.

### 3.2 Abbreviations

CSS Cascading Style Sheets

W3C World Wide Web Consortium
WAP Wireless Application Protocol
WCSS Wireless Cascading Style Sheets
WML Wireless Markup Language

XHTML Extensible Hyper Text Markup Language

XML Extensible Markup Language

## 4. Introduction

This section is informative.

Readers of this specification are assumed to be familiar with Cascading Style Sheets (CSS) as defined in [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.].

### 4.1 How to Read This Specification

The major part of this specification is a table with normative references to the CSS2.1 [[CSS21] specification. Appendix A follows the syntax described in [IOPProc] and is the Static Conformance Requirements (SCR) for the whole specification.

It is recommended that the specification is read in the following way:

- 1. Read Appendix A to get an overall view of what parts of the specification are mandatory and what parts are optional. The SCR is a list of features of Wireless CSS.
- 2. For each feature in the SCR, details on conformance can be found in the referenced section.

A reference to CSS includes the referenced section and all sub-sections, unless stated otherwise.

#### 4.2 Conformance

Conformance to this specification is defined in the Static Conformance Requirements (SCR) table in Appendix A. A conforming user agent may support additional CSS features.

This specification does not specify user interface presentation. It is not specified what a dotted line or a solid line should look like or how colors should be represented on the display. The look and feel depends on the device. This limits to what extent certain features can be tested. It is however expected that conformance testing will be carried out in such a way that it is possible to distinguish between a device that has implemented a particular feature and one that has not. It can be done for example by observing just the difference in effect of two different property values. A device that is unable to support a certain feature cannot claim to conform to that feature.

**Note**: Conformance to this specification is intended to be stronger than for CSS2.1, where conformance can be claimed even if parts of the specification have not been implemented (see [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] section 3.2). In Wireless CSS conformance can be claimed, in the Implementation Conformance Statement (ICS), only for features that have actually been implemented.

Fortunately, in many cases it is clear how a property value should be presented. Whether a font is "sans serif" or whether the text is indented five pixels can be tested. And if that test fails, the device does not conform to that feature.

Some features are optional and some features are mandatory. Here are some of the principles that have been used to determine what shall be mandatory and what shall be optional:

- For interoperability, most of the core CSS features are mandatory: syntax, selectors, cascading, inheritance, how
  values are calculated, etc.
- For consistency, when there are variants of the same property, such as 'border-left' and 'border-right' of the 'border' property, then all variants are required.
- In general, property values that are keywords, such as "larger", "left", and "smaller", are required for that property.
- When a property takes values of only one type, that type is required.
- Some properties can take many different types of values. A property requires at least one type of values. The requirement-column in the SCR table is used to express the dependency between a property and the types of values it can take.

- Unimplemented property values (ones that are listed as 'OPTIONAL' and not implemented or found in [[CSS21] but not explicitly listed in this specification) MUST still be parsed and handled correctly as unsupported values.
- Values expressed as colours always require support for the 17 CSS 2.1 colour keywords (16 HTML 4.0 colours [HTML40] + orange) and the RGB specification.
- Properties may be OPTIONAL if they are required for the support of technologies external to Browsing 2.4. These will be noted both in text and in the SCR Appendix. (e.g. support for CDF WICD [CDFWICD]). Properties that are optional except when supporting CDF WICD are noted as "O OR CDFWICD:M"

#### 4.2.1 Exceptions when Presenting Documents in Certain Character Sets

There are style sheet properties that are not useful for documents in a certain character set. Most properties can be applied to a document in a Latin character set. Some properties for fonts and text, however, cannot be applied in a meaningful way to a document using Chinese-Japanese-Korean (CJK) character sets.

The general principle is that properties that are not useful for a certain character set are optional when a document in that character set is presented.

In the requirements tables, properties which are not useful when CJK documents are presented, are marked as optional ("M OR CJK:O"). A user agent presenting a CJK document is not required to implement these properties, although they are mandatory when presenting a document in another character set.

In this specification, exceptions to the conformance requirements are made for CJK documents. Future versions may take other character sets into account, in addition to CJK.

#### 4.2.2 Shorthand Properties

Shorthand properties allow authors to specify the value of several properties using a single property. It is a syntactical shortcut. All shorthand properties are mandatory. Since some of the properties which can be specified by the shorthand property may be optional – and not supported by the user agent – the properties which actually can be set depend on the user agent.

#### 4.2.3 Colour and "Black & White" Devices

Devices may be characterized as having one or more bits of color depth. Devices that have only one bit of color depth (assumed black and white for the purposes of this definition) should treat all color requests other than white as black, except where both foreground color and background color are specified and they are different. In this case the color with the higher hexadecimal value should default to white, and the color with the lower hexadecimal value should default to black. This prevents text being rendered invisible unintentionally.

### 4.3 The 'text/css' Media Type

Since Wireless CSS style sheets are either valid CSS2.1 style sheets [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] or contain extensions expressed in valid CSS syntax, when delivered over the Internet, the 'text/css' [[RFC2318] MIME media type can be used to represent Wireless CSS style sheets.

OMA has not defined a MIME media type specifically for Wireless CSS style sheets.

# 5. Selectors

This section is normative.

## 5.1 Pattern Matching

In order to support the Wireless CSS Selectors the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS
Universal selector	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.3	M
Type selectors	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.4	M
Descendant selectors	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.5	M
Child selectors	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.6	M
Link pseudo-class: :link	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.11.2	M
Link pseudo-class: :visited	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.11.2	M
Dynamic pseudo-class: :active	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.11.3	M
Dynamic pseudo-class: :focus	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.11.3	M
Class selectors	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.8.3	M
ID selectors	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.9	M
Grouping	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS21] section 5.2.1	M

## Syntax and Basic Data Types

This section is normative.

## 6.1 Syntax and Parsing

In order to support the Wireless CSS Syntax and Parsing the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS
CSS style sheet syntax	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.1	M
Rules for handling parsing errors	[ [[CSS21] section 4.2	М
Algorithm for determining the character encoding	[[CSS21] section 4.4	M
The "charset" at-rule in external style sheets	[[CSSMP]Sec. 4, [[CSS21] section 4.4	M
The "namespace" at-rule	[[CSSMP]Sec. 3, [[CSS3NSSec. 3	O OR CDFWICD: M

## 6.2 Data Types

In order to support the Wireless CSS Data Types the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS
<number></number>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.1	M
Integers and real numbers.		
<length></length>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.2	M
The "px", "em", and "ex" length units.		
<pre><percentage></percentage></pre>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.3	M
<uri></uri>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.4	M
<color></color>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.6	M
The 17 HTML 4.0 colours.		
<color></color>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.6	M
Numerical RGB specification.		
<string></string>	[[CSSMP]Sec. 6, [[CSS21] section 4.3.7	M

## 7. Assigning Property Values, Cascading, and Inheritance

This section is normative.

In order to support the Wireless CSS Assigning property values, cascading, and inheritance the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS
Specified, computed, and actual values	[[CSS21] section 6.1	M
Inheritance	[[CSS21] section 6.2,	M
The "import" at-rule	[[CSSMP]Sec. 4, [[CSS21] section 6.3	M
The cascade	[[CSS21] section 6.4	M

**Note:** [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] section 6.4.4 specifies how non-CSS presentational hints (e.g. the presentational markup found in WML and XHTML) are used in the CSS cascade. It also specifies the same thing for the style rules in the XHTML "style" attribute.

# 8. Media Types

This section is normative.

In order to support the Wireless CSS Media Types the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
@media	handheld	[[CSSMP]Sec. 4, [[CSS21] section 7.2.1, 7.3	M
	all	[[CSSMP]Sec. 4, [[CSS21] section 7.2.1,7.3	M

Note: A user agent MAY support additional media types, such as "aural" if it supports aural style sheets.

## 9. Associating Style Sheets with XML Document

This section is normative.

In order to support the Wireless CSS Associating style sheets with XML documents the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS	
XML style sheet processing instruction	[XMLCSS]	M	

Here is an (informative) example of how the XML style sheet processing instruction is used in an XHTML document:

Authors SHOULD use the "handheld" media type to indicate that the style sheet is appropriate for handheld devices.

#### 10.Box Model

This section is normative.

## 10.1 Margin

In order to support the Wireless CSS Margin properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
margin-top, margin-right, margin-bottom, margin-left	<margin-width>   inherit</margin-width>	[[CSS21] section 8.3	M
margin	<margin-width>   inherit</margin-width>	[[CSS21] section 8.3	M

The <margin-width> datatype is defined in [[CSS21] section 8.3.

## 10.2 Padding

In order to support the Wireless CSS Padding properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
padding-top, padding-right, padding-bottom, padding-left	<pre><padding-width>   inherit</padding-width></pre>	[[CSS21] section 8.4	M
padding	<pre><padding-width>   inherit</padding-width></pre>	[[CSS21] section 8.4	M

The <padding-width> datatype is defined in [[CSS21] section 8.4.

### 10.3 Border Width

In order to support the Wireless CSS Border Width properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
border-top-width, border-right-width, border-bottom-width, border-left-width	  border-width>   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.1	M
border-width	 border-width>   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.1	M

The <border-width> datatype is defined in [[CSS21] section 8.5.1.

### 10.4 Border Colour

In order to support the Wireless CSS Border Colour properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
border-top-color, border-right-color, border-bottom-color, border-left-color	<color>   inherit</color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.2	M
border-color	<color>   transparent   inherit</color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.2	M

## 10.5 Border Style

In order to support the Wireless CSS Border Style properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
border-top-style, border-right-style, border-bottom-style, border-left-style	none   solid   dashed   dotted   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.3	M
	hidden   double, groove   ridge   inset   outset	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.3	О
border-style	none   solid   dashed   dotted   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.3	М
	hidden   double, groove   ridge   inset   outset	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.3	О

## 10.6 Border Shorthand Properties

In order to support the Wireless CSS Border Shorthand properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	REFERENCE	STATUS
border-top, border-right, border-bottom, border-left, border	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 8.5.4	M

## 11. Colours and Background

This section is normative.

## 11.1 Foreground Colour

In order to support the Wireless CSS Foreground Colour properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
color	<color>   inherit</color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.1	M

## 11.2 Background Colour

In order to support the Wireless CSS Background Colour properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
background-color	<color>   transparent   inherit</color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	M

## 11.3 Background Images

In order to support the Wireless CSS Background Images properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table and Background Colour.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
background-image	<uri>   none   inherit</uri>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	М
background-repeat	repeat   repeat-x   repeat-y   no-repeat   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	М
background-attachment	scroll   fixed   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	М
background-position	top   center   bottom   left   right   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	М
	<li><length>  </length></li> <li><percentage></percentage></li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	О

## 11.4 Background Shorthand Property

In order to support the Wireless CSS Background Shorthand properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	REFERENCE	STATUS
background	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 14.2	M

#### 12.Fonts

This section is normative.

### 12.1 Font Family

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Family properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
font-family	<pre><generic-family>   inherit</generic-family></pre>	[[CSS21] section 15.3	M OR CJK:O
	<family-name></family-name>	[[CSS21] section 15.3	О

The <generic-family> and <family-name> datatypes are defined in [[CSS21] section 15.3.

Note: As a user agent is not required to have any particular font family installed, the mandatory nature of 'font-family' means that the user agent MUST process the family request and provide what it considers a best fit font from those installed.

### 12.2 Font Style

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Style properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
font-style	normal   italic	[[CSSMP] section 5,	M OR
	oblique   inherit	[[CSS21] section 15.4	CJK:O

The "oblique" font style MAY be rendered as "italic", according to [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] section 15.4

### 12.3 Font Variant

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Variant properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
font-variant	normal   small-caps	[[CSSMP] section 5,	M OR
	inherit	[[CSS21] section 15.5	CJK:O

## 12.4 Font Weight

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Weight properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
font-weight	normal   bold   bolder   lighter   100   200   300   400   500   600   700   800   900   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 15.6	M OR CJK:O

It is reasonable to assume that many mobile devices will not support more than the two font-weights: "normal" and "bold". Those two are defined in [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.] to map to the numerical font weight values of "400" for "normal" and 700 for "bold". It is also defined that a lower numerical font-weight must be lighter or equal to a higher numerical font-weight.

If user agent is unable to support different levels of font weights, it MUST map the keywords to the normal and bold keywords in the following way:

- Map font weight keywords "100", "200", "300", "400", and "lighter" to the same weight as "normal".
- Map font weight keywords "500", "600", "700", "800", "900", and "bolder" to the same weight as "bold".

With two font weights the relative value "bolder" always equals "bold" and "lighter" always equals "normal".

As specified in [[CSS21], only the strings "100", "200", "300", "400", "500", "600", "700", "800", "900" are legal as font weights. These weights are strings, not values.

#### 12.5 Font Size

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Size properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
font-size	xx-small   x-small   small   medium   large   x-large   xx- large   larger   smaller   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 15.7	M OR CJK:O
	<length>   <percentage></percentage></length>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 15.7	О

### 12.6 Font Shorthand Property

In order to support the Wireless CSS Font Shorthand properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	REFERENCE	STATUS
font	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 15.8	M OR CJK:O

### 13.Lists

This section is normative.

#### **13.1 Lists**

In order to support the Wireless CSS Lists properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
list-style-type	disc   circle   square   decimal   lower- roman   upper- roman   lower-alpha   upper-alpha   none   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 12.5.1	M OR CJK:O <sup>1</sup>
list-style-position	inside   outside   inherit	[[CSS21] section 12.5.1	О
list-style-image	<uri>   none   inherit</uri>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 12.5.1	М
list-style		[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 12.5.1	М

User agent that does not recognize a numbering system, in 'list-style-type', SHOULD use "decimal".

Since some list properties are optional, some user agents may not support all values of the shorthand property.

The user agent behaviour when the height of the list style image is greater than the highest inline box in the same line is implementation defined. This means that to guarantee interoperability, images specified by 'list-style-image' should be of a height less than or equal to the inline box height in the line in which the image is used.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These values do not exist in Latin1 character set, so images are used instead. However for Japanese, they exist in JIS X 0208 as characters, so images are not used.

### 14.Text

This section is normative.

#### 14.1 Indentation

In order to support the Wireless CSS Text Indentation properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
text-indent	<length>   <percentage>   inherit</percentage></length>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.1	M OR CJK:O

## 14.2 Alignment

In order to support the Wireless CSS Text Alignment properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
text-align	left   right   center   justify   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.2	M

Note: The actual justification algorithm used depends on the user-agent and the language/script of the text.

Conforming user agents may interpret the value 'justify' as 'left' or 'right', depending on whether the element's default writing direction is left-to-right or right-to-left, respectively.

#### 14.3 Decoration

In order to support the Wireless CSS Text Decoration properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
text-decoration	none   blink   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.3.1	M
	underline	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.3.1	M
	overline   line- through	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.3.1	0

### 14.4 Transformation

In order to support the Wireless CSS Text Transformation properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
text-transform	capitalize   uppercase   lowercase   none   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.5	M OR CJK:O

# 14.5 White Space

In order to support the Wireless CSS Text White space properties the user agent MUST implement the mandatory item ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
white-space	normal   pre   nowrap   pre-line   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 16.6	М

#### 15. Visual Effects

This section is normative.

In order to support the Wireless CSS Visual effects properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
visibility	visible   hidden   collapse   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 11.2	M
		[[CSS21] section 17.5.5	

Note: If used on elements other than rows, row groups, columns, or column groups, 'collapse' has the same meaning as 'hidden'. The 'visibility' property takes the value 'collapse' for row, row group, column, and column group elements. This value causes the entire row or column to be removed from the display, and the space normally taken up by the row or column to be made available for other content. Contents of spanned rows and columns that intersect the collapsed column or row are clipped. The suppression of the row or column, however, does not otherwise affect the layout of the table. This allows dynamic effects to remove table rows or columns without forcing a re-layout of the table in order to account for the potential change in column constraints. [[CSS21] section 17.5.5

## 16. Visual Formatting

This section is normative.

## **16.1 Display Properties**

In order to support the Wireless CSS Display properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
display	inline   block   list- item   none   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.2.4	M
	run-in   compact   marker   table   inline-table   table-row-group   table-header-group   table-footer-group   table-row   table-column-group   table-column   table-cell   table-caption	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.2.4	O

## **16.2 Positioning Schemes**

Default for all implementations is position = static. The inclusion of these properties is to allow the positioning of entities in a compound (mixed markup) document.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
position	static   relative   absolute   inherit	[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.3.1	O OR CDFWICD: M
top	<relative unit="">   <percentage>   auto   inherit</percentage></relative>	[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.3.2	O OR CDFWICD: M
right	<relative unit="">   <percentage>   auto   inherit</percentage></relative>	[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.3.2	O OR CDFWICD: M
bottom	<relative unit="">   <percentage>   auto   inherit</percentage></relative>	[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.3.2	O OR CDFWICD: M
left	<relative unit="">   <percentage>   auto   inherit</percentage></relative>	[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.3.2	O OR CDFWICD: M

### 16.3 Float Positioning

In order to support the Wireless CSS Float Positioning properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
float	left   right   none   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.5.1	M

When WCSS is applied to an XHTML Mobile Profile document, the user agent MUST support the 'float' property applied to the 'img' element. A user agent MAY support applying 'float' to other elements, according to [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.].

#### **16.4 Float Flow Control**

In order to support the Wireless CSS Float Flow Control properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table and float positioning.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
clear	left   right   both   none   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.5.2	M

### 16.5 Layered Presentation

Management of layered presentation is only required when the document is a compound document and the stacking of entities using different markups causes an overlap

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
z-index	Auto   <integer>   inherit</integer>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 9.9	O OR CDFWICD: M

## 16.6 Content Width and Height

In order to support the Wireless CSS Content Width and Height properties the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table. Note: Properties that are required for CDF WICD [CDFWICD] conformance are optional otherwise, and included to allow the control of placement of entities using different markup languages in a compound document.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
width	<li><length>  </length></li> <li><percentage>   auto</percentage></li> <li>  inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.2	M
height	<li><length>  </length></li> <li><percentage>   auto</percentage></li> <li>  inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.5	M

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
min-width	<li>length&gt;  </li> <li>percentage&gt;  </li> <li>inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.4	O OR CDFWICD: M
max-width	<li><length>  </length></li> <li><percentage>   none</percentage></li> <li>  inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.4	O OR CDFWICD: M
min-height	<li>length&gt;  </li> <li>percentage&gt;  </li> <li>inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.7	O OR CDFWICD: M
max-height	<li><length>  </length></li> <li><percentage>   none</percentage></li> <li>  inherit</li>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.7	O OR CDFWICD: M
vertical-align	top   middle   bottom   baseline   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 10.8.1	М
	sub   super   text-top   text-bottom	[[CSS21] section 10.8.1	О
	<pre><percentage>   <length></length></percentage></pre>	[[CSS21] section 10.8.1	О

With WCSS it is possible for a content author to set the width and height of the content area, which is a CSS box, by using the 'width' and 'height' properties.

If the rendered content (see [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.]) does not fit into the content area it is modified (scaled, deformed, etc.) to fit the area. The modification method is implementation defined. (In CSS2.1 the author has some control over this situation by using the 'overflow' and 'clip' properties, which is not part of WCSS.)

Some replaced elements (see [[CSS21Error! Reference source not found.]) such as <img> and <object> permit the content author to specify an alternative representation. If the content cannot be modified to fit into the content area, the alternative representation is used instead. For example if an image in an <img> element cannot be modified to fit into the content area, the value of the "alt" attribute is used as the rendering of the image. The alternative representation is also used in other situations, for example when the user has disabled images rendering using a user control.

An error is indicated to the user when the rendered content cannot be modified and no alternative representation is available. The user agent shall indicate the nature of the error, e.g. presentation error, resource error or content interpretation error, to the user in a meaningful way.

## 16.7 Outlining

Outlining properties are only mandatory when implementing compound documents [CDFWICD] and serve to highlight specific areas within a document.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
outline	[ <outline-color>   <outline-style>   <outline-width>]   inherit</outline-width></outline-style></outline-color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 18.4	O OR CDFWICD: M
outline-width	  der-width>   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 18.4	O OR CDFWICD: M
outline-style	none   solid   dashed   dotted   inherit	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 18.4	O OR CDFWICD: M
outline-color	<color>   inherit</color>	[[CSSMP] section 5, [[CSS21] section 18.4	O OR CDFWICD: M

## 17.Marquee

This section is normative.

## 17.1 CSS3 Marquee

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
overflow	auto	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.1	M
	visible   hidden   [scroll		О
overflow-style	marquee	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.2	М
marquee-style	scroll   slide   alternate	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.3	М
marquee-loop	<non-negative- integer&gt;   infinite</non-negative- 	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.3	М
marquee-direction	forward   reverse	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.3	М
marquee-speed	slow   normal   fast	[CSS3BOX, Section 11.3	М

Note: In CSS3, marquee is a part of the overflow property. The 'overflow' property is assumed to have a value of 'auto'.

## 17.2 WAP Marquee

Support for the WAP Marquee CSS extension is obsolete.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
display	-wap-marquee	[[WCSS11] Section 17.1	О
-wap-marquee-style	scroll   slide   alternate	[[WCSS11] Section 17.2	О
-wap-marquee-loop	<integer>   infinite</integer>	[[WCSS11] Section 17.3	О
-wap-marquee-dir	ltr   rtl	[[WCSS11] Section 17.4	0
-wap-marquee-speed	slow   normal   fast	[[WCSS11] Section 17.5	О

# **18.CSS Extension: Access Keys**

This section is normative.

Support for the WAP Access Keys CSS is obsolete.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
-wap-accesskey	none   <keycombinationlist>   inherit</keycombinationlist>	[[WCSS11] Section 18.1	0

# 19.CSS Extension: Input

This section is normative.

Support for the WAP Input CSS extensions is obsolete.

PROPERTY	VALUE	REFERENCE	STATUS
-wap-input-format	<format></format>	[[WCSS11] Section 19.2	О
-wap-input-required	true   false	[[WCSS11] Section 19.3	О

## Appendix A. Change History

# (Informative)

## A.1 Approved Version 1.1 History

Reference	Date	Description
OMA-WAP-WCSS-V1_1	20 Oct 2006	Approved by TP
		OMA Ref# OMA-TP-2006-0370R01-INP_Browsing_V2_2_for_Final_Approval.doc
WAP-239-WCSS-20011026-a	26 Oct 2001	WCSS V1.0

## A.2 Draft/Candidate Version 1.2 History

Document Identifier	Date	Sections	Description
Draft Versions	22 Jun 2007		Draft of Converged Specification
OMA-TS-WCSS-V1_2	21 Aug 2007		Updated as per minutes
			OMA-MAE-2007-0182-MINUTES_21Aug2007_f2f_Seoul
	21 Sep 2007	2 App A	Implemented Class 2 CR (clean up reference formats in WCSS 1.2 draft):
			OMA-MAE-2007-0162-CR_WCSS12_references_editorial_fixes Upload the file
			Editorial fixes:
			History box moved from App C to App A and added A.2 for current draft version
	01 Sep 2008	All	Editorial fixes:
			2008 template
			Implemented:
			OMA-MAE-2008-0017R03-
			INP_OMA_CONRR_Browsing_V2_4_20080609_D
Candidate Version:	23 Sep 2008	All	Status changed to Candidate by TP:
OMA-TS-WCSS-V1_2			OMA-TP-2008-0335-
			INP_Browsing_V2_4_ERP_for_Candidate_Approval

## **Appendix B. Static Conformance Requirements**

(Normative)

In order to support Wireless CSS the user agent MUST implement all mandatory items ("M") in the following table, and SHOULD implement all optional items ("O").

ITEM	FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS	REQUIREMENT
WCSS-SELECTOR-C-001	Pattern matching	Section 5.1	M	
WCSS-SYNTAX-C-001	Syntax and parsing	Section 6.1	M	
WCSS-TYPES-C-001	Data types	Section 6.2	M	
WCSS-CASC-C-001	Assigning property values, cascading, and inheritance	Section 7	М	
WCSS-MEDIA-C-001	Media types	Section 8	M	
WCSS-ASOC-C-001	Associating style sheets with XML documents	Section 9	M	
WCSS-MARGIN-C-001	Margin properties	Section 10.1	M	
WCSS-PADDING-C-001	Padding properties	Section 10.2	M	
WCSS-BORDER-WIDTH-C-001	Border width	Section 10.3	M	
WCSS-BORDER-COLOR-C-001	Border colour	Section 10.4	M	
WCSS-BORDER-STYLE-C-001	Border style	Section 10.5	M	
WCSS-BORDER-SHORT-C-001	Border shorthand property	Section 10.6	M	
WCSS-FCOLOR-C-001	Foreground colour	Section 11.1	M	
WCSS-BCOLOR-C-001	Background colour	Section 11.2	M	
WCSS-BIMAGES-C-001	Background images	Section 11.3	О	
WCSS-BACKGROUND-C-001	Background shorthand property	Section 11.4	M	
WCSS-FONTS-FAMILY-C-001	Font family	Section 12.1	О	
WCSS-FONTS-STYLE-C-001	Font style	Section 12.2	M	
WCSS-FONTS-VARIANT-C-001	Font variant	Section 12.3	О	
WCSS-FONTS-WEIGHT-C-001	Font weight	Section 12.4	M	
WCSS-FONTS-SIZE-C-001	Font size	Section 12.5	О	
WCSS-FONTS-SHORT-C-001	Font shorthand property	Section 0	M	
WCSS-LISTS-C-001	Lists	Section 13.1	M	
WCSS-TEXT-INDENT-C-001	Text indentation	Section 14.1	M	

ITEM	FUNCTION	REFERENCE	STATUS	REQUIREMENT
WCSS-TEXT-ALIGN-C-001	Text alignment	Section 14.2	M	
WCSS-TEXT-DEC-C-001	Text decoration	Section 14.3	M	
WCSS-TEXT-TRANS-C-001	Text transformation	Section 14.4	0	
WCSS-TEXT-WS-C-001	White space	Section 14.5	M	
WCSS-VEFFECT-C-001	Visual effects	Section 15	0	
WCSS-VFORM-DISP-C-001	Display properties	Section 16.1	M	
WCSS-VFORM-PS-C-001	Positioning Schemes	Section 0	M	
WCSS_VFORM-FLOAT	Float Positioning	Section 16.3	M	
WCSS-VFORM-CLEAR-C-001	Float Flow Control	Section 16.4	M	
WCSS-VFORM-LAYERS-C-001	Layered Presentation	Section 16.5	О	
WCSS_VFORM-SIZE-C-001	Content Width and Height	Section 16.6	M	
WCSS_VFORM_OUTLIN-C-001	Outlining	Section 16.7	О	
WCSS-MARQUEE-C-001	Marquee	Section 17	M	
WCSS-WAPEXT-MARQUEE-C- 001	CSS Extension: Marquee	Section 17	О	
001			Obsolete	
WCSS-WAPEXT-ACC-C-001	CSS Extension: Access keys	Section 18	О	
			Obsolete	
WCSS-WAPEXT-INPUT-C-001	CSS Extension: Input	Section 19	О	
			Obsolete	

## Appendix C. Changes from WCSS 1.1 to WCSS 1.2

This section is informative.

- 1. The baseline specification for WCSS has been changed from CSS 2.0 to CSS 2.1 [[CSS21].
- 2. WCSS 1.2 now matches property for property with W3C CSS-MP 2.1.
- 3. Optional properties for the support of the W3C CDF WICD profile [CDFWICD] have been added.
- 4. All WAP extensions have been Obsoleted.
- 5. Marquee functionality will follow the new W3C CSS 3 Marquee
- 6. A bug in the display property value list has been fixed.